



FEDERAL LABOR RELATIONS AUTHORITY
Office of Administrative Law Judges
WASHINGTON, D.C.

OALJ 15-13

DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS
VETERANS AFFAIRS MEDICAL CENTER
RICHMOND, VIRGINIA

RESPONDENT

AND

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF GOVERNMENT
EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 2145, AFL-CIO

CHARGING PARTY

Case No. WA-CA-11-0390

June M. Marshall
For the General Counsel

Timothy M. O'Boyle
James M. Kielhack, Jr.
For the Respondent

Jennifer D. Marshall
For the Charging Party

Before: RICHARD A. PEARSON
Administrative Law Judge

DECISION

Two of Wayne Church's co-workers filed written statements to an agency manager in which they objected to comments Church made to them. Church's third-level supervisor decided to meet with Church to obtain his account of the incidents. When confronted with the complaints, Church angrily denied the accusations; the supervisor asked few, if any, questions to flesh out further details of the incidents. Before Church left the supervisor's office, the supervisor asked him if he'd be willing to move from the fourth floor to a clinic on the second floor in order to resolve the complaints. Church refused to relocate. Subsequently, one of the complaining employees moved to the second floor instead.

The issues in this case are, first, whether this meeting constituted a “formal discussion” that required advance notice to the Union, and second, whether the supervisor improperly bypassed the Union when he tried to reassign Church without involving the Union. I conclude that while some aspects of the meeting were formal, it was predominantly informal in structure and content. Therefore, if the supervisor had simply discussed the complaints registered against Church, the Union would have had no right to participate in the meeting. But once the supervisor began to discuss reassigning Church to a different work area, he sought to change the conditions of his employment. By dealing directly with Church on a matter that should have been negotiated with the Union, he unlawfully bypassed the Union and sought to undermine it.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an unfair labor practice proceeding under the Federal Service Labor-Management Relations Statute, Chapter 71 of Title 5 of the U.S. Code, 5 U.S.C. §§ 7101 *et seq.* (the Statute), and the Rules and Regulations of the Federal Labor Relations Authority (the Authority or FLRA), 5 C.F.R. part 2423.

On May 27, 2011, the American Federation of Government Employees, Local 2145, AFL-CIO (the Union) filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Department of Veterans Affairs, Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Richmond, Virginia (the Agency or Respondent). GC Ex. 1(a). The Union filed an amended charge on January 18, 2012.¹ GC Ex. 1(b). After investigating the charges, the Regional Director of the FLRA’s Washington Region issued a Complaint and Notice of Hearing on May 24, 2012, alleging that the Respondent violated §§ 7114(a)(2)(A)² and 7116(a)(1) and (8) of the Statute by failing to give the Union notice and an opportunity to be represented at a formal discussion between a management official and a bargaining unit employee, and that the Respondent violated § 7116(a)(1) and (5) of the Statute by bypassing the Union at that same meeting. GC Ex. 1(c). The Respondent filed its Answer to the Complaint on June 6, 2012, denying that it had violated the Statute.

A hearing was held in this matter on August 2, 2012, in Richmond, Virginia. All parties were represented and afforded an opportunity to be heard, to introduce evidence, and to examine witnesses. The General Counsel (GC) and Respondent filed post-hearing briefs which I have fully considered.

¹ It appears that the amended charge was never served on the Respondent. Tr. 6-8. This will be discussed further below.

² Paragraphs 12 and 14 of the Complaint are inconsistent, in that paragraph 12 refers to a violation of § 7114(a)(2)(B), and paragraph 14 refers to a violation of § 7114(a)(2)(A). GC Ex. 1(c). At the hearing, Counsel for the General Counsel eliminated the confusion by stating that it is alleging a violation of § 7114(a)(2)(A), not (B). Tr. 14.

Based on the entire record, including my observation of the witnesses and their demeanor, I make the following findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommendations.

FINDINGS OF FACT

The Respondent is an agency within the meaning of § 7103(a)(3) of the Statute. *See* GC Exs. 1(c) & 1(d). The American Federation of Government Employees, AFL-CIO (AFGE) is a labor organization under § 7103(a)(4) of the Statute and is the exclusive representative of a unit of employees that includes the Respondent's facility in Richmond, Virginia. *Id.* The Union is an agent of AFGE for the purpose of representing employees at that facility. *Id.* The Respondent and AFGE are parties to a collective bargaining agreement (CBA). Jt. Ex. 1.

On April 7 and 14, 2011,³ two kinesiotherapists (bargaining unit employees) filed separate "Behavioral Code of Conduct Report" forms (Reports of Contact) with their supervisors, each objecting to statements made to them by physical therapist Wayne Church. Jt. Exs. 2 & 3. Since kinesiotherapists and physical therapists work under different supervisors, the complaints were subsequently referred to the Chief of the Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation Service, Dr. Shane McNamee. Tr. 113-14. One employee objected to a comment Church made about joining the Union (Jt. Ex. 3), while the other employee objected to Church referring to her age and describing her as "jail bait" (Jt. Ex. 2). Dr. McNamee had only become service chief the previous August, and he had never handled such a complaint before, so he discussed the cases first with someone in Human Resources (HR), who suggested that he discuss the complaints with Church. Tr. 88, 90-91.

On the afternoon of May 13, McNamee sent an email to Church: "Need to discuss something with you. Can you please page me when you get a chance []." R. Ex. 1 at 2; Tr. 91. Within minutes, Church called McNamee, learned that McNamee was available, and went from his office on the fourth floor to McNamee's office on the first floor. Tr. 26. As McNamee explained at the hearing, "I just wanted Mr. Church to have some knowledge of what these things said and get his take on it just to see from his perspective if there was any truth in these things or what they were really about." Tr. 90-91. When Church arrived, McNamee advised him that he had the right to have a Union representative present if he wished, and Church declined the offer. Tr. 26, 91. Church looked first at the report concerning the union-related conversation and asked McNamee "what was the complaint." Tr. 26. McNamee responded that "it looks like you guys are just blowing smoke[,] but that the other complaint was "more serious" Tr. 26-27. When Church read the complaint about him allegedly describing an employee as "jail bait," he got upset. Tr. 27. According to Church, he immediately said he wanted to discontinue the meeting and get a Union representative. Tr. 27, 28. He also told McNamee he thought it was "very unfair to me that they were having these young therapists to make these false allegations." Tr. 27. He said

³ All dates refer to 2011, unless otherwise noted.

that McNamee told him to take the weekend to consider it, "but if you were to transfer down to the second floor and work, this here I'll take it and put it right in my drawer . . . and you'll never hear about it again." Tr. 29. Church refused to be reassigned to the second floor, told McNamee he wanted "to take this to the highest of authorities[,] and left the office. *Id.*

According to McNamee, Church became "very irate" and "upset" as soon as he read the two complaints, and he began waving his hands and accusing the hospital administration of "creating these things to assassinate his character." Tr. 94. Church didn't ask for a Union representative at any point in the meeting, nor did he seek to terminate the meeting; rather, he "seemed to continue to talk []" about the accusations against him. Tr. 97, 103. Church "eventually calmed down and we went through that a couple of times and I asked him is there any truth in these? Is there any veracity to these, basically? He denied both of those." Tr. 94. McNamee also explained that "because of the allegations of the one from the young lady . . . [Jt. Ex. 2] I thought it was best while we were looking into this, because of the nature of it, to see if Mr. Church would voluntarily work in a different area of the hospital" Tr. 94; *see also* Tr. 103-05. After Church refused to be reassigned, he and McNamee discussed that the woman's complaint would be handled formally through the EEO process. Tr. 95; *see also* Tr. 125-26. At the hearing, McNamee testified he that didn't remember telling Church that the complaint would "go away" if he agreed to work on the second floor. Tr. 96, 125. Both Church and McNamee estimated that the entire meeting lasted ten or fifteen minutes. Tr. 29-30, 96. The Union did not receive any advance notice of the May 13 meeting. Tr. 78.

Within minutes after this meeting, Church sent McNamee an email confirming their discussion. Among other things, Church reiterated his desire "to take this formal as discussed with you." R. Ex. 1 at 1. He further stated, "This is such a serious accusation and you want to fix it by sending me to the second floor to work." *Id.* McNamee, in turn, forwarded Church's email along with his own comments to various management officials at the hospital, confirming that he had asked Church "to voluntarily move treatment locations." *Id.* Since Church would not move voluntarily, McNamee recommended that Church be involuntarily "moved to another clinical location as he apparently knows the name of the accuser . . . to prevent any particular backlash against this young lady." *Id.* This became unnecessary, as the female kinesiologist subsequently agreed to move to the second floor to be away from Church. Tr. 120. Her "Behavioral Code of Conduct Report" was investigated by the Respondent's EEO director, who found insufficient evidence of an EEO violation to pursue the matter further. Tr. 122-23.

Church also spoke to the Union president the day after the meeting and asked her to represent him. Tr. 30, 56-57. Church was concerned about being forced to move to the second floor. Tr. 57. Church followed up his conversation by sending an email to the Union president on May 26, in which Church reiterated that McNamee had offered him "an opportunity to resolve this by going to the second floor to continue performing my job." GC Ex. 2. On May 27, the Union president filed its unfair labor practice charge regarding the May 13 meeting. Tr. 58; GC Ex. 1(a).

The ULP charge, filed by the Union president on May 27, consisted of three pages, all of which focused on the McNamee-Church meeting of May 13. The first page related to their discussion of the union-related Report of Contact and alleged that McNamee had spoken to Church in a coercive manner to intimidate him from discussing Union membership, in violation of § 7116(a)(1) and (2) of the Statute. GC Ex. 1(a) at 1. The second page related to McNamee's discussion of both Reports of Contact, alleging that it was a formal discussion and an investigation of complaints, that McNamee had threatened to reassign Church from the fourth floor to the second floor, and that McNamee had failed to notify the Union in advance, in violation of § 7116(a)(1) and (8). *Id.* at 2. The third page alleged that McNamee had violated Church's "Weingarten" rights by refusing his request to stop the meeting until he obtained a Union representative; it also cited McNamee's alleged threat to move Church to a different floor. *Id.* at 3.

What appears to be an amended ULP charge was prepared by Union president Jennifer Marshall. GC Ex. 1(b). It is a two-page document, the typed portions of which are copies of the third and first pages of the original ULP charge, but each of the two pages has a handwritten addition labeled "Bypass Amendment"; the first page of the new charge is signed by Ms. Marshall and dated January 18, 2012. *Id.* at 1, 2. Each page contains virtually the identical addition, alleging that McNamee attempted to negotiate conditions of employment with Church at the May 13 meeting. Unlike the original charge, which contains an entry in the "For FLRA Use Only" box at the top of the first page that it was given a case number on May 27, the amended charge has no entry or date in the box at the top.

After an investigation by the Washington Region of the FLRA, the Regional Director dismissed each of the allegations of the original charge on its merits and dismissed the amended charge as untimely. Jt. Ex. 4. The General Counsel, however, granted the Union's appeal of the dismissal and directed the Regional Director to reconsider the bypass, formal discussion, and Weingarten allegations. Jt. Ex. 5. After further investigation, the Regional Director found merit in the bypass and formal discussion allegations and issued the Complaint, as noted above. GC Ex. 1(c).

POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES

The General Counsel asserts that the Respondent, through Dr. McNamee's actions on May 13, committed two separate but related violations of the Statute. It argues that the May 13 meeting was a "formal discussion," as that term is defined by § 7114(a)(2)(A), and that the Respondent violated § 7116(a)(1) and (8) by failing to notify the Union in advance of the meeting or to give the Union an opportunity to attend. The GC further argues that the Respondent bypassed the Union in violation of § 7116(a)(1) and (5) by trying to persuade Church to move to the second floor voluntarily.

On the first point, the GC asserts that the May 13 meeting satisfied the statutory criteria of a formal discussion. It is undisputed that the meeting was a discussion, and that it was between a bargaining unit employee and a representative of the Agency. The subject of the meeting was the two Reports of Contact objecting to statements Church made to other employees. Since the Reports of Contact were complaints about Church's conduct, the

GC says the McNamee-Church discussion of the complaints concerned a grievance. The Authority has frequently held that the term "grievance" in 7114(a)(2)(A) is broader than the scope of the parties' contractual grievance procedure. See *U.S. Dep't of Def., U.S. Air Force, 325th Fighter Wing, Tyndall AFB, Fla.*, 66 FLRA 256, 260 (2011) (*Tyndall AFB*); *Luke Air Force Base, Ariz.*, 54 FLRA 716, 730 (1998) (*Luke AFB*). GC Br. at 6-7. Finally, the evidence shows that many of the indicia of formality commonly cited by the Authority were present at the May 13 meeting. *Id.* at 8. Dr. McNamee is a high-level manager for the Respondent, the meeting took place not in Church's work area but in McNamee's office, and it lasted ten to fifteen minutes. Additionally, while Church may not have been told that the meeting was mandatory, the circumstances surrounding it suggest that Church had little choice but to attend. Since the Agency admits that the Union was not notified of the meeting, the Agency committed an unfair labor practice.

Regarding the bypass allegation, the GC contends that McNamee attempted to convince Church to transfer to a different work location, and that to induce Church to accept a transfer, McNamee offered to resolve the charges against him or to make the complaints disappear. *Id.* at 9-10. Reassigning an employee to a different work location is a change in a condition of employment, and the Agency was obligated to negotiate with the Union, not Church, on this matter. *U.S. Dep't of the Air Force, Air Force Materiel Command, Space & Missile Sys. Ctr., Detachment 12, Kirtland AFB, N.M.*, 64 FLRA 166 (2009) (*Kirtland AFB*). By dealing directly with Church on this issue, the Agency violated § 7116(a)(1) and (5) of the Statute.⁴ *Iowa Nat'l Guard & Nat'l Guard Bureau*, 8 FLRA 500, 513 (1982).

The Respondent denies both allegations on their merits. It argues first that the May 13 meeting was "brief, informal, and did not concern a grievance" as defined by the Statute and case law. R. Br. at 4. In the context of § 7114(a)(2)(A), the Respondent disputes that the meeting concerned a grievance, or that it met the formality criteria of Authority case law. The Agency disputes the GC's reliance on *Tyndall AFB* as a basis for finding the May 13 meeting to be a grievance, as the Authority did not (as the GC contends) uphold the ALJ's finding that an employee's call to security police constituted a grievance. R. Br. at 7-8, citing 66 FLRA at 260. Rather, the Authority simply assumed the ALJ's finding on that point, without actually deciding it, because the agency had not filed exceptions on that issue. In our case, the Agency submits that the May 13 discussion was, at most, something that could have given rise to a future grievance. R. Br. at 8. If a supervisor's initial investigation of a co-worker's complaint about a fellow employee is considered a grievance, the distinctions between subparagraphs (A) and (B) of § 7114(a)(2) would be rendered redundant and meaningless. R. Br. at 8-9. In the Respondent's view, the May 13 meeting was an investigatory interview within the meaning of § 7114(a)(2)(B); Church was advised of his right to a Union representative and he declined; and this was all the Statute requires.

Moreover, the Agency insists that the circumstances of the meeting reflect its informality. It was brief – ten minutes, not more than fifteen – and the Agency cites decisions in which this length, or longer, weighed against a finding of formality. See, e.g.,

⁴ The GC has not alleged that this constituted an independent violation of § 7116(a)(1).

U.S. Dep't of Veterans Affairs, N. Ariz. VA Healthcare, Prescott, Ariz., 61 FLRA 181, 185 (2005) (*Arizona VA*); *Dep't of Health & Human Serv., Soc. Sec. Admin.*, 29 FLRA 1205, 1208 (1987) (*SSA I*). McNamee was the only management representative at the meeting, and it was arranged in almost a spontaneous manner. The meeting had no agenda, Church was not told that his attendance was mandatory, and McNamee did not have any script or take notes. R. Br. at 7.

The Respondent denies that McNamee negotiated with Church regarding any conditions of employment or otherwise dealt with Church in a manner that bypassed the Union. First, it asserts that the Agency had no obligation to negotiate with the Union about Church moving voluntarily to the second floor. Church's working conditions were virtually identical on the second floor as they were on the fourth floor, except that the patient population is slightly different and he found the fourth floor more convenient for him. Tr. 36-37. Church testified that he had changed floors in other circumstances in prior years, and he is not aware that there were any negotiations with the Union about those moves. Tr. 42-43. Thus the Respondent submits that no bargaining rights were implicated by McNamee's request that Church agree to move to the second floor. R. Br. at 10-11. All McNamee did was solicit Church's opinion whether he would voluntarily move to another floor, something an agency is entitled to do pursuant to *Nat'l Treasury Employees Union v. FLRA*, 826 F.2d 114, 123 (D.C. Cir. 1987). This was a brief conversation, not a negotiation, and Church refused to even entertain the idea of moving to the second floor, so the Union was not bypassed. R. Br. at 11.

In its Answer to the Complaint (GC Ex. 1(d) at 3), the Respondent objected to the timeliness of the amended ULP charge (GC Ex. 1(b), which was filed more than six months after the May 13 meeting. At the outset of the hearing, Respondent renewed this objection, but the objection focused more on the failure to serve the amended charge on the Respondent than on its untimeliness. Tr. 6, 10-11. The GC conceded that the amended charge was not served on the Agency (Tr. 8) but asserted that the language of the original charge was broad enough to encompass the allegation that the Agency bypassed the Union (Tr. 8-9). The GC further indicated that it issued the Complaint based solely on the original charge. Tr. 10-13. The Respondent did not pursue the issue of untimeliness further at the hearing, and it did not raise the issue in its post-hearing brief.

Nevertheless, the GC did address the procedural issue in its brief and argues that the original ULP charge did allege that the Agency bypassed the Union. GC Br. at 9. Although the original charge did not explicitly use the phrase "bypass," it alleged (near the end of the last paragraph of page 3) that "McNamee threatened bargaining unit employee, Wayne Church with moving him from his regular assignment of the 4th Floor to that of the 2nd floor as resolution to the alleged 'complaints'." GC Ex. 1(a) at 3, ¶4. In the GC's view, the Complaint's allegation that the Agency bypassed the Union is "directly related to and encompassed within the factual allegations" of that language in the original charge. GC Br. at 9. Therefore, it was timely filed, and the Respondent was properly put on notice of the nature of the violation it was accused of committing. See *U.S. Penitentiary, Leavenworth, Kan.*, 55 FLRA 704, 732 (1999).

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

A. The Bypass Complaint Was Based on a Timely and Sufficient Charge

Section 2423.4(a)(5) of the Authority's Rules and Regulations requires that an unfair labor practice charge contain "[a] clear and concise statement of the facts alleged to constitute an unfair labor practice, a statement of the section(s) and paragraph(s) of the [Statute] alleged to have been violated, and the date and place of occurrence of the particular acts[.]"

Section 2423.20(a) (3), (4) of the Rules and Regulations requires a complaint issued by a regional director to set forth, among other things, "[t]he facts alleged to constitute an unfair labor practice[]" and "[t]he particular sections of 5 U.S.C., chapter 71 and the rules and regulations involved[.]"

The procedural question that arises here is whether the original ULP charge – which cites various actions and statements by Dr. McNamee on May 13, but which doesn't explicitly allege that he bypassed the Union – is sufficient to support the bypass violation alleged in the Complaint. The Union sought to correct this problem by amending its charge on January 18, 2012, but the amended charge was not served on the Respondent, and the GC is relying only on the original charge to support the Complaint.⁵

The Authority has repeatedly held that a complaint complies with these requirements "if the allegations in the complaint bear a relationship to the charge and are closely related to the events complained of in the charge." *U.S. Dep't of Justice, Bureau of Prisons, Allenwood Fed. Prison Camp, Montgomery, Pa.*, 40 FLRA 449, 455 (1991). It further stated in the *Allenwood* case that "a charge is sufficient in an administrative proceeding if it informs the alleged violator of the general nature of the violation charged against him[.]" *Id.* Both the Authority and the federal courts have explained that a charge merely sets in motion the machinery of an inquiry, which may then deal with unfair labor practices that are related to, or grow out of, the allegations of the charge. *Id.*, and cases cited therein.

In the current case, the original charge, filed on May 27, was three pages long, with each page focusing on a different aspect of the May 13 meeting between McNamee and Church. The second page explicitly alleged that the meeting was a formal discussion, and it further alleged: "In addition, the meeting involved a discussion regarding bargaining unit employee, Wayne Church [sic] conditions of employment in that management threatened to move him from his regular assignment of the 4th Floor to the 2nd Floor." GC Ex. 1(a) at 2, ¶4. The third page (alleging a Weingarten violation) reiterated McNamee's alleged threat to move Church to the second floor "as resolution to the alleged 'complaints'." *Id.* at 3, ¶4. Nowhere in the charge is McNamee accused explicitly of "bypassing" the Union.

⁵ The GC insisted that it was basing its complaint solely on the contents of the original charge, and I emphasized at the hearing that I would not look to the amended charge to support the complaint. Tr. 12. It is therefore unnecessary to examine whether the failure to serve the amended charge on the Respondent undermines the complaint.

Despite the absence of the word “bypass,” the charge does state the essential facts on which the bypass allegation in the Complaint is based. The charge directs the Respondent’s attention to the meeting of May 13, and it further accuses the Respondent of discussing Church’s conditions of employment and threatening to reassign him during the meeting, as a means of resolving the employees’ complaints against Church. Discussing the possible change in an employee’s conditions of employment directly with the employee, rather than his Union, or seeking to resolve a complaint directly with the employee, represent conduct that undercuts the Union’s role as the exclusive representative of employees. So, while the original charge did not use the word “bypass,” it did direct the Respondent’s attention to conduct that might constitute an unlawful bypass. The Complaint made explicit what had previously been implicit, but it remained focused on the events of the May 13 meeting and the statements McNamee made to Church. Thus, the complaint bears a close relationship to the charge and to the events complained of in the charge, as required by *Allenwood* and other decisions.

The facts of the *Allenwood* case are instructive regarding our own case. There, the union filed a charge alleging that the agency unlawfully refused to furnish it with crediting plans pursuant to a June FOIA request. After investigating the charge, the General Counsel issued a complaint alleging that the agency had unlawfully refused to furnish the union with the same crediting plans pursuant to a September request made under both FOIA and § 7114(b)(4) of the Statute. 40 FLRA at 450. Despite the absence of any reference to the September information request or to § 7114(b)(4) in the ULP charge, the charge “put the Respondent on general notice of the allegation that it had violated the Statute by refusing to furnish the requested crediting plan” and the complaint was closely related to the events cited in the charge. *Id.* at 455. In contrast, in *U.S. Dep’t of Agric.; FSIS, Wash., D.C.*, 59 FLRA 68 (2003), the Authority held that a charge alleging bad faith bargaining and unlawful domination of a local union could not serve as the basis for a complaint alleging that the agency had bypassed a different entity of the union, which was the exclusive representative of the employees. Not only did the charge fail to allege an unlawful bypass, but it also cited management communications with local union officials as violative, whereas the essential violation alleged in the complaint was communicating directly with members of the bargaining unit. 59 FLRA at 73 (majority opinion).⁶ By failing to mention “a critical factual element of a bypass allegation[.]” the charge failed to inform the agency of the general nature of a bypass charge. *Id.* The pleadings in our case are comparable to those in *Allenwood*: the charge specifically cites statements by McNamee that discussed conditions of employment, threatened reassignment, and attempted to resolve the complaints against Church without the involvement of the Union. Thus, the charge alleged the critical facts underlying a bypass allegation, and the Agency had adequate notice of what it was being accused of. *See also U.S. Penitentiary, Florence, Colo.*, 53 FLRA 1393, 1401-03 (1998).

⁶ *But see* the dissenting opinion, 59 FLRA at 75-76, which argues that the complaint was sufficiently related to the charge, as they both object to actions taken by the same agency official on the same date.

B. The May 13 Meeting Was Not a Formal Discussion

Section 7114(a)(2)(A) of the Statute provides:

(2) An exclusive representative of an appropriate unit in an agency shall be given the opportunity to be represented at –

(A) any formal discussion between one or more representatives of the agency and one or more employees in the unit or their representatives concerning any grievance or any personnel policy or practices or other general condition of employment[.]

In order for a union to have a right to be represented under § 7114(a)(2)(A), there must be: (1) a discussion (2) which is formal (3) between a representative of the agency and a bargaining unit employee or the employee's representative (4) concerning any grievance or any personnel policy or practice or other general condition of employment. *Tyndall AFB*, 66 FLRA at 259.

In examining these criteria, the Authority is guided by the intent and purpose of § 7114(a)(2)(A), which is to provide a union with an opportunity to safeguard its interests and the interests of bargaining unit employees as viewed in the context of the union's full range of responsibilities under the Statute. *Gen. Serv. Admin.*, 50 FLRA 401, 404 (1995). The intent and purpose of § 7114(a)(2)(A) does not constitute a separate element in the analytical framework; rather, it is only a guiding principle that informs the Authority's judgments in applying the statutory criteria. *Id.* at 404 n.3. When a meeting satisfies these criteria, management must give the union notice of, and an opportunity to be present at, the meeting, or else it violates § 7116(a)(1) and (8) of the Statute. *Tyndall AFB*, 66 FLRA at 260.

The parties seem to agree, and the evidence confirms, that the meeting between McNamee and Church on May 13 was a discussion, that it involved a bargaining unit employee and a management representative, and that the Union was not notified in advance. What remains in dispute is whether the May 13 meeting was formal and whether it "concerned a grievance."⁷

The May 13 meeting concerned a grievance

Section 7103(a)(9) of the Statute states:

"grievance" means any complaint –

⁷ The GC does not contend that the meeting concerned a personnel policy or practice or general condition of employment. See GC Ex. 1(c) at ¶12; GC Br. at 6-7.

- (A) by any employee concerning any matter relating to the employment of the employee;
- (B) by any labor organization concerning any matter relating to the employment of any employee; or
- (C) by any employee, labor organization, or agency concerning –
 - (i) the effect or interpretation, or a claim of breach, of a collective bargaining agreement; or
 - (ii) any claimed violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of any law, rule, or regulation affecting conditions of employment[.]

McNamee asked to talk to Church, and get his views, about two Reports of Contact, both of which alleged that Church had made objectionable comments to them while they were working. The one in particular that seems to have attracted everyone's attention and concern was the comment attributed to Church about a young female employee being "jail bait," because everyone understood that this could be construed as sexual harassment, which could result in disciplinary action against Church. *See, e.g.*, GC Ex. 2; R. Ex. 1 at 1; Tr. 103. Both of the Reports of Contact were "complaints" by bargaining unit employees against Church,⁸ and both concerned matters relating to their employment. Therefore, the Reports of Contact satisfy the plain statutory definition of a grievance, and the May 13 meeting "concerned" a grievance.

In finding that the meeting was a grievance, I acknowledge that most decisions interpreting § 7114(a)(2)(A) have involved discussions occurring in the context of a negotiated grievance procedure or some form of statutory appeal. Thus, management discussions with employees regarding MSPB⁹ appeals and EEO complaints¹⁰ have been found to be grievances, as have discussions in preparation for arbitration hearings,¹¹ and even discussions at the informal stages of a negotiated grievance procedure.¹² In *INS Rosedale*, the

⁸ Using the common meaning of the word, the Authority has stated that a complaint includes "something that is the cause or subject of protest or grieved outcry." *U.S. Dep't of Justice, INS, N.Y. Office of Asylum, Rosedale, N.Y.*, 55 FLRA 1032, 1038 n.13 (1999) (*INS Rosedale*).

⁹ *Veterans Admin. Med. Ctr., Long Beach, Cal.*, 41 FLRA 1370, 1379-80 (1991) (*VA Long Beach*).

¹⁰ *Luke AFB*, 54 FLRA at 730.

¹¹ *Dep't of the Air Force, Sacramento Air Logistics Ctr., McClellan AFB, Cal.*, 29 FLRA 594, 598-602 (1987) (*McClellan I*).

¹² *INS Rosedale*, 55 FLRA at 1035; *U.S. Dep't of Justice, Bureau of Prisons, Fed. Corr. Inst., Bastrop, Tex.*, 51 FLRA 1339, 1344 (1996) (*FCI Bastrop*). As in those two cases, the grievance procedure negotiated by AFGE and the VA in our case encourages employees and Union representatives to "informally discuss issues of concern to them with their supervisors . . . [and] to talk with other appropriate officials about items of concern without filing a formal grievance if they choose." Article 43, Section 7.B of the CBA (Jt. Ex. 1 at 230).

Authority left unresolved the question of whether “the definition of ‘grievance’ [extends] beyond the filing of either a statutory appeal or an informal or formal grievance[.]” but Member Wasserman stated his view that it does. 55 FLRA at 1035 n.7. In *U.S. Dep’t of the Air Force, 436th Airlift Wing, Dover AFB, Dover, Del.*, 57 FLRA 304, 308 (2001) (*Dover AFB*), the Authority analyzed the statutory language of § 7103(a)(9) and interpreted the repeated use of the word “any” as an indication of Congress’s intent to define the term “grievance” as inclusively as possible.¹³ In *Luke AFB*, the Authority stated that the meaning of “grievance” is not dependent on the scope of the parties’ negotiated grievance procedure. 54 FLRA at 730.

All of these considerations suggest that the complaints made by the two employees objecting to statements Church allegedly made to them were grievances within the meaning of § 7103(a)(9), and that the meeting called by McNamee to discuss with Church the allegations against Church should be viewed as a discussion concerning a grievance, within the meaning of § 7114(a)(2)(A). The purpose of giving a union the right to participate in formal discussions, after all, is to provide the union with an opportunity to safeguard its own interests and the interests of all bargaining unit employees, in the context of the union’s full range of statutory responsibilities. *U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Bureau of Prisons, Fed. Corr. Inst. (Ray Brook, N.Y.)*, 29 FLRA 584, 589 (1987). Here, two bargaining unit employees objected to statements made by another bargaining unit employee; one of those statements might be construed as sexual harassment. In light of this, the Union may well have institutional interests in (1) being informed of allegations of sexual harassment of bargaining unit members; (2) representing a bargaining unit member who is accused of such harassment; and (3) seeing to it that cases of sexual harassment are handled in a fair and consistent manner.

On the other hand, this case poses an interesting question regarding the relationship, and potential overlap, between subparagraphs (A) and (B) of § 7114(a)(2). Specifically, if a management representative conducts an “examination of an employee . . . in connection with an investigation” that may reasonably result in disciplinary action against the employee, can that meeting also constitute a “formal discussion” under § 7114(a)(2)(A)? The evidence regarding the May 13 meeting indicates that McNamee understood the meeting triggered Church’s right to a Union representative under § 7114(a)(2)(B); he advised Church of this, but Church (at least initially) declined a Union representative.¹⁴ In these circumstances, can the meeting separately trigger the Union’s right to prior notice and an opportunity to attend under subparagraph (A)?

¹³ I agree with Respondent that *Tyndall AFB* cannot be interpreted as holding that an employee’s emergency call to security police was a grievance. The Authority assumed the ALJ’s finding that the emergency call was a grievance, but it did not actually rule on the issue. 66 FLRA at 260.

¹⁴ In its original ULP charge, the Union alleged, among other things, that McNamee rejected Church’s request for a Union representative, but the General Counsel did not pursue this allegation in the Complaint. See GC Ex. 1(a) at 3, GC Ex. 1(c), Jt. Ex. 4 at 2. In his testimony at the hearing, Church stated that while he initially declined to have a Union representative, he changed his mind and asked for one when he read the Reports of Contact, but McNamee did not stop the meeting. Since the Complaint does not accuse the Respondent of violating § 7114(a)(2)(B), I do not need to address this factual discrepancy.

Initially, the Authority seems to have answered this question in the negative, as it interpreted the legislative history of the two subparagraphs of § 7114(a)(2) as creating a distinct dichotomy of rights: if a manager is “conducting an investigation by examining . . . employees for the purpose of gathering facts[,]” the case “must perforce be decided under section 7114(a)(2)(B) and consideration under section 7114(a)(2)(A) is inapposite.” *Dep’t of Health & Human Serv., Soc. Sec. Admin.*, 18 FLRA 42, 43, 46 (1985) (*SSA II*). In this decision, the Authority determined that “the employees were examined in connection with an investigation. This being so, there occurred no ‘formal discussion’ within the meaning of section 7114(a)(2)(A).” *Id.* at 46.¹⁵

Two years later, however, the Authority significantly restricted the applicability of *SSA II* in *McClellan I*.¹⁶ When a management lawyer sought to interview, in preparation for an arbitration hearing, a bargaining unit employee who had been named as a union witness, it did so without notifying the union or allowing it to attend, and it cited *SSA II* in defense of its conduct. While the Authority reaffirmed the analysis in *SSA II* that § 7114(a)(2)(A) and (B) establish “separate rights to representation[]” and “serve distinct purposes[,]” it rejected the concept that “a union’s right to representation at fact-gathering interviews conducted in preparation for third-party hearings depends solely on meeting the requirements of § 7114(a)(2)(B) and cannot be considered under the provisions of section 7114(a)(2)(A)[.]” 29 FLRA at 600. Rather, it said, “the particular facts of each individual case will determine the provisions of the Statute which are pertinent.” *Id.* In contrast to the employee interviews in *SSA II*, which did not occur in the context of an upcoming third-party hearing, the Authority in *McClellan I* considered the union’s interest in representing employees at hearings and in assuring the noncoerciveness of management interviews of union witnesses entitled the union to be present at such interviews. *Id.* at 600-02. It reiterated this analysis in *Dep’t of the Air Force, F.E. Warren AFB, Cheyenne, Wyo.*, 31 FLRA 541, 552 (1988), stating, “[w]e reject the Judge’s conclusion that agency management may treat interviews as one kind of meeting or another at its option. . . . Whether section 7114(a)(2)(A) or (B) applies is determined by the facts of each case.”

A case that involves facts somewhat analogous to ours is *Nat’l Labor Relations Bd.*, 46 FLRA 107 (1992) (*NLRB*). There, an employee wrote an anonymous letter to agency management complaining of widespread racial discrimination in one department, prompting management to assign its EEO Director to investigate the allegations and to interview employees in the department. The director did so, interviewing the employees who were accused of bias and many other employees who were not accused. She advised the union of

¹⁵ Interestingly, the management interviews of employees in *SSA I* occurred after a written grievance had been filed by the union and discussed with management. *Id.* at 43. Thus, it is clear that the interviews “concerned a grievance.”

¹⁶ Since its *McClellan I* decision, the Authority has not cited *SSA II* as a basis for a decision, except in *Am. Fed’n of Gov’t Employees, Local 3428*, 66 FLRA 156, 158 (2011). There, an arbitrator cited *SSA II*, but the arbitrator’s rationale was not explained in the Authority’s decision, and the Authority said it was not ruling on the merits of that rationale. *Id.* at 158 n.6.

what she was doing and offered the Union an opportunity to participate in some of the interviews. Nonetheless, the agency was charged with violating § 7114(a)(2)(A), and the agency argued that the interviews were fact-gathering meetings, not formal discussions, and that the allegations made in the anonymous letter did not constitute a “complaint” under § 7114(a)(2)(A). *Id.* at 125. Citing *McClellan I* and distinguishing *SSA II*, the judge rejected the agency’s argument and found that the fact-gathering interviews were formal discussions. *Id.* at 128-37. While the judge considered it “an interesting question” whether the anonymous letter constituted a “grievance” under § 7114(a)(2)(A), he declined to decide that question, as the interviews triggered by the letter concerned “general conditions of employment.” *Id.* at 132-33. The Authority upheld the judge’s conclusions, except as to one question of waiver that is not relevant to our case. *Id.* at 111-12.

The Respondent argues that if the complaints made against Church are considered grievances under § 7114(a)(2)(A), then an employee’s right to request union representation under § 7114(a)(2)(B) could be rendered “meaningless” and “redundant”.¹⁷ R. Br. at 9. But the Authority has made clear that the two subparagraphs of 7114(a)(2) protect separate and distinct rights and have different purposes, and that allegations of formal discussion violations will be evaluated within the criteria specified in (A). In the *NLRB* case, the agency protected itself, the union, and the various employees being interviewed by advising each employee of his right to union representation and by also advising the union of its right to attend the interviews. A similar practice could have been followed here. In our case, the Union had a distinct interest in participating in McNamee’s meeting with Church – even if Church didn’t think he needed a representative – and the Agency has not shown that notifying the Union in advance of the meeting would have destroyed the purpose of interviewing him.

Considering all these factors, I conclude that the May 13 meeting concerned a grievance.

1. The May 13 Meeting Was Not Formal

In order to determine whether meetings are “formal,” the totality of the circumstances presented in each case must be examined. The Authority has identified a variety of factors that are relevant for this purpose, but it has also stated that these factors are merely illustrative. *F.E. Warren AFB, Cheyenne, Wyo.*, 52 FLRA 149, 157 (1996) (*Warren AFB*). The relevant factors include: (1) the status of the individual who held the discussion; (2) whether any other management representatives attended; (3) the site of the discussions (i.e., in the supervisor’s office, at the employee’s desk, or elsewhere); (4) how the meeting for the discussion was called (i.e., with formal advance written notice or more spontaneously and informally); (5) the length of the discussion; (6) whether a formal agenda was established; and (7) the manner in which the discussions were conducted (i.e., whether the employee’s

¹⁷ A better question may be whether an expansive definition of “formal discussion” renders the employee’s right under 7114(a)(2)(B) to **decline** union representation meaningless.

identity and comments were noted or transcribed). *Pension Benefit Guar. Corp., Wash., D.C.*, 62 FLRA 219, 222 (2007); *U.S. Dep't of Labor, Office of the Assistant Sec'y for Admin. & Mgmt., Chi., Ill.*, 32 FLRA 465, 470 (1988). Also relevant at times are whether attendees signed a confidentiality agreement (*Dover AFB*, 57 FLRA at 307), and whether attendance at the meeting was mandatory (*Am. Fed'n of Gov't Employees, Local 2054*, 63 FLRA 169, 172 (2009)). The Authority also considers the purpose of the meeting, and in some cases the purpose of the discussion may be sufficient, by itself, to establish its formality. *Warren AFB*, 52 FLRA at 156.

In this case, the indicia of formality do not fall uniformly on one side of the scale or the other. Instead, some indicia point toward formality and some point toward informality. On the whole, however, considering the totality of the circumstances, I conclude that the May 13 meeting was not formal.¹⁸

The GC correctly cites two aspects of the meeting suggesting formality: the status of the management representative conducting the meeting, and the location of the meeting. Dr. McNamee was Church's third-level supervisor, and the meeting was held in McNamee's office on the first floor; Church worked on the fourth floor. The fact that McNamee was not only above Church in the chain of command, but was three levels above him, is a significant factor that signifies the meeting was of importance, and not simply a spontaneous discussion of something that just happened on the work floor. A similar impression is conveyed by Church having to go to McNamee's office for the meeting: the discussion took place on McNamee's "territory," so to speak, conveying an unspoken message as to who was in charge.

Two other factors, which point – but less strongly – toward formality, are the way the meeting was initiated and whether the meeting was mandatory. McNamee sent Church an email on the afternoon of May 13: "Need to discuss something with you. Can you please page me when you get a chance []." R. Ex. 1 at 2. Within minutes, Church had paged McNamee and walked down to McNamee's office. Church was not explicitly told that he was required to meet with McNamee, but in light of McNamee's position, declining the request would have been difficult. A specific time was not set for the meeting; the fact that Church was merely asked to contact McNamee when he "got a chance" detracts somewhat from the formality of the arrangement and from the mandatory nature of his attendance, but overall I would still consider these facts as evidence of formality.

Weighing against formality are the facts that there was no agenda for the meeting, no notes were taken by McNamee or anyone else, Church was not asked or required to keep the meeting confidential, no other management representative attended, and the meeting was brief. Indeed, the overall impression conveyed by the testimony of both Church and McNamee is one of an unscripted encounter in which McNamee was hoping to short-circuit what might otherwise become a formal investigation, and to avoid the contentious arguments

¹⁸ See, e.g., *Arizona VA*, 61 FLRA at 186, where the Authority explains that the presence of some indicia of formality does not necessarily make the discussion formal under the Statute.

that would be made in a formal investigation, by talking personally to the various protagonists. Although McNamee had discussed the Reports of Contact with someone in HR, it is clear that he went into the May 13 meeting with no notes, pre-drafted questions, or anything of the sort – rather, he just wanted to get Church’s “take” on the allegations and see “what they were really about.” Tr. 90-91. And while McNamee did not admit that he offered to drop the employees’ complaints if Church agreed to move his workstation to the second floor, I believe that McNamee was looking for a way to satisfy everyone without the complaints being addressed through a formal administrative process.¹⁹ Once Church made it clear that he was not going to settle the matter quietly, McNamee had no desire to pursue his questioning further, and he turned the complaints over to the EEO office for a determination. Tr. 95, 99.

Supporting my belief on this latter point, first, is the utter lack of specificity to McNamee’s questions of Church. In Church’s account of the meeting, McNamee didn’t really ask him anything about the Reports of Contact; rather, McNamee simply handed the reports to him, which caused Church to become upset and accuse management of conspiring to induce employees to falsely accuse him. Tr. 27-28. In McNamee’s account of the meeting, he simply asked Church whether there was “any truth” in the allegations, and Church denied them. Tr. 93. Neither Church nor McNamee described any follow-up questions on McNamee’s part; no questions tracking the language of the employees’ complaints, in an effort to pinpoint areas of dispute or agreement between Church and the complainants. In well-planned, well-thought-out (i.e., formal) investigatory examinations, the interviewer has either a script or a detailed plan of how to pursue the questioning of the witness; denials are followed up with more specific probing. None of that was evident in this case. This indicates to me that while the meeting was not “spontaneous,” it was not the result of any real planning. As McNamee testified (and essentially corroborated by Church), he simply wanted to make Church aware of the allegations and to hear Church’s version.

The short length of the meeting further supports the idea of informality.²⁰ Although the GC argues that the Authority has found meetings of ten to fifteen minutes to be of sufficient duration to connote formality, the case it cites for this point demonstrates the contrary. The meeting in *Dep’t of the Air Force, Sacramento Air Logistics Ctr., McClellan AFB, Cal.*, 35 FLRA 594, 604 (1990) (*McClellan II*), was found to have taken between fifteen and twenty-five minutes; thus it was significantly longer than the meeting in our case. More importantly, the questioning that occurred in *McClellan II* offers a good contrast to McNamee’s questioning of Church here. An agency lawyer contacted an employee who had been identified as a possible union witness at an upcoming arbitration hearing, and he asked a series of questions to elicit what the employee knew about the incident in dispute. *Id.* at 596, 604, 613-14. Even though the lawyer’s questions were not written down in advance, it is

¹⁹ I will address this matter separately, below, with regard to whether McNamee bypassed the Union.

²⁰ While I use ten to fifteen minutes as the possible range of time the meeting lasted, the evidence suggests it was closer to ten. *Compare* Tr. 29-30 and 96.

evident that he asked a considerable number of factual questions and follow-up questions to ascertain whether the employee's account would support or conflict with the agency's knowledge of the facts. McNamee did nothing of the sort in his meeting with Church, however. His questions were not systematic or detailed, and all we can discern from the two witnesses' accounts of the conversation is that McNamee asked him whether the complaints against him were valid. Therefore, *McClellan II* does not help the GC's case.

The Authority discussed the time issue in more depth in a case involving the same parties as our case, in *U.S. Dep't of Veterans Affairs, Veterans Affairs Med. Ctr., Richmond, Va.*, 63 FLRA 440, 443 (2009). It cited three cases in which discussions lasting between fifteen and twenty minutes were considered too short to connote formality. See *Arizona VA*, 61 FLRA at 185; *Def. Logistics Agency, Def. Distrib. Region W., Tracy, Cal.*, 48 FLRA 744, 745 n.2 (1993); *SSA II*, 29 FLRA at 1208. In its 2009 *Richmond VA* decision, the Authority affirmed an ALJ's finding that a meeting lasting between fifteen and thirty minutes did not support formality.

I would also add that it is not the mere quantity of time a meeting lasts that is important, but the detail, specificity, and focus of the discussion in that time which connotes formality or informality. McNamee was seeking to ascertain the validity of the two Reports of Contact and to hear Church's side of the story. If he had engaged Church in a detailed series of analytical questions about the two incidents, trying to pinpoint exactly what was said by each person, and following up Church's answers with more specific questions, I might be more inclined to find that this discussion was formal. But as I have already explained, that was not the tenor of the discussion at all. Most of the ten or fifteen minutes were occupied by Church's angry denunciations of management's efforts to assassinate his character, not discussing the details of the allegations in the Reports of Contact.

As for the purpose of the meeting, I do not think the facts of the meeting clearly point in either direction, but they point moderately toward informality. This factor overlaps considerably with my earlier discussion regarding whether the meeting "concerned a grievance," and I think it is more relevant to consider those facts in regard to the meeting's "formality." Cases such as *McClellan I*, *Luke AFB*, and *VA Long Beach* looked at the procedural context of the meetings in those cases and determined that preparations for an arbitration hearing, a formal EEO complaint investigation, and an MSPB hearing, respectively, are "grievances" within the meaning of § 7114(a)(2)(A). In *FCI Bastrop*, the Authority held that even a meeting to discuss a "potential grievance" met the statutory definition of grievance. 51 FLRA at 1345. Although the May 13 meeting in our case did not even occur at the informal stage of the parties' grievance procedure, I found that it met the statutory definition of a grievance. Nevertheless, I also consider the preliminary stage at which the May 13 meeting occurred as a factor weighing against its formality. When a formal administrative or statutory process such as an MSPB or unfair labor practice hearing takes place, investigatory or fact-finding interviews of employees must be viewed in the context of that administrative or statutory procedure. In contrast, McNamee's questioning of

Church occurred before anyone had filed a grievance – either in writing or at an informal stage – under the parties’ negotiated grievance procedure. Two employees had filed Reports of Contact objecting to things Church said to them, but no supervisor had made any decision that Church should be disciplined. McNamee and HR were just beginning to investigate what exactly had happened and whether Church had done anything wrong. While I still view the Reports of Contact as grievances, it is also clear that the investigatory process had barely begun.

Even at such a preliminary stage of an agency’s fact-finding, it is possible that a manager’s investigatory interview of the subject of a report of contact might constitute a “formal discussion” under § 7114(a)(2)(A), but only if the interviewer conducted his questioning in a much more formal, thorough manner. For instance, if the Reports of Contact against Church had been assigned to the Agency’s Inspector General, and if an IG representative had required Church to sign an affidavit as to exactly what happened, and if the questioning that led up to the affidavit was highly detailed, then I would consider the discussion formal. But those hypothetical facts are not present here. Instead, we have a rather haphazard, unorganized, brief discussion that quickly digressed from the facts of Church’s conversations with the two complainants to accusations of management assassinating Church’s character.

In sum, the indicia of informality outweigh the indicia of formality. Accordingly, I find that the May 13 meeting was not formal within the meaning of § 7114(a)(2)(A) of the Statute. Since one of the essential criteria of a formal discussion is not present, this portion of the Complaint is dismissed.

C. The Respondent Unlawfully Bypassed the Union

Section 7114(a)(1)²¹ of the Statute affirms the principle of a union’s exclusive representation of employees in a bargaining unit, and this principle requires an agency to “deal only with” that representative “on matters that are within the sole authority of that exclusive representative.” *Am. Fed’n of Gov’t Employees, Nat’l Council of HUD Locals 222*, 54 FLRA 1267, 1276-77 (1998) (*HUD*). As the Authority stated in *Dep’t of Health & Human Serv., Soc. Sec. Admin, Balt., Md.*, 39 FLRA 298, 311 (1991), “Agencies unlawfully bypass an exclusive representative when they communicate directly with bargaining unit employees concerning grievances, disciplinary actions and other matters relating to the collective bargaining relationship.”

While the case law provides no straightforward definition of the phrase “direct dealing,” it offers examples of conduct that constitutes direct dealing. For instance, an agency unlawfully bypasses a union when it communicates with one or more employees “concerning grievances, disciplinary actions and other matters relating to the collective

²¹ This provision states, in part: “A labor organization which has been accorded exclusive recognition is the exclusive representative of the employees in the unit it represents and is entitled to act for, and negotiate collective bargaining agreements covering, all employees in the unit.”

bargaining relationship.” *Id.* Similarly, it violates the Statute when it solicits employee assistance in establishing a condition of employment (*Air Force Accounting & Fin. Ctr., Lowry AFB, Denver, Colo.*, 42 FLRA 1226, 1239 (1991)) or when it threatens or promises benefits to employees (*HUD*, 54 FLRA at 1279).

But an agency is not prevented from seeking information or opinions directly from its employees, so long as it does not (1) attempt to deal or negotiate directly with employees concerning conditions of employment; or (2) use the information gained from employees to undermine the status of the union. *U.S. Dep’t of the Treasury, Internal Revenue Serv.*, 64 FLRA 972, 978 (2010) (*IRS*). Pursuant to these principles, agencies have been allowed to conduct surveys of employees’ views and suggestions about working conditions (*id.*), to instruct employees about conditions of employment at orientation sessions (*Dep’t of Health & Human Serv., Soc. Sec. Admin.*, 16 FLRA 232, 243 (1984), and to handle purely administrative matters relating to the out-processing of a terminated employee (*U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Fed. Bureau of Prisons, FCI Elkton, Ohio*, 63 FLRA 280, 282 (2009)).

I have already explained that the Agency did not need to notify the Union and give it an opportunity to participate when McNamee questioned Church about the two Reports of Contact that had been filed regarding him. It was not a formal discussion. But at a certain point in the meeting, McNamee pivoted the conversation and asked Church if he would move from the fourth floor to the second floor. At that point, the meeting was no longer a fact-finding investigation but an attempt to effectuate a voluntary resolution of the informal grievances and to transfer Church to a different work location. By doing this, McNamee sought to deal directly with Church to change his conditions of employment, without involving the Union.

Changing an employee’s work area is a change in the employee’s conditions of employment. As noted by the GC, the Authority found in *Kirtland AFB*, 64 FLRA at 173-74, 175-76, that the relocation of a single employee to a different work area effected a change in conditions of employment that required notice to the union and bargaining; *see also Veterans Admin., W. L.A. Med. Ctr., L.A., Cal.*, 24 FLRA 714, 717-18 (1986). In a negotiability dispute, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals, enforcing the Authority’s bargaining order, noted that issues relating to office environment “involve matters at the very heart of the traditional meaning of ‘conditions of employment’”. *Library of Cong. v. FLRA*, 699 F.2d 1280, 1286 (D.C. Cir. 1983), *enf’g AFSCME Local 2477*, 7 FLRA 578 (1982). While the Respondent sought to minimize the impact of Church moving to the second floor as merely a matter of convenience and a different patient population (R. Br. at 10), I consider those effects to be more than *de minimis* here. When Church testified that he would be dealing with a different patient population on the second floor, he explained that the patients there had surgery, whereas the patients on the fourth floor have more medical problems. Tr. 37. It is evident from this that the manner in which a physical therapist will treat his patients is likely to be different, depending on the type of medical or surgical issues they face, and that an employee may have distinct preferences as to which type of patients he would prefer working with. I also reject the attempt to minimize the matter of convenience in working on one floor rather

than another. McNamee may have had legitimate reasons for seeking to separate Church from the employees who had filed complaints against him, but Church's preferences for wanting to continue working on the fourth floor are also legitimate. If McNamee was going to discuss such a reassignment with Church, he should have negotiated the impact and implementation of such a change with the Union. By seeking to arrange it directly with Church, he was improperly bypassing the Union and undermining its position as the exclusive representative of the employees.

Furthermore, I reject the Agency's argument that it had no obligation to negotiate such a reassignment, since Church testified that in previous years he had been moved to different work locations without any apparent negotiations. Tr. 42-43; R. Br. at 10-11. Church was in no position to adequately testify concerning any negotiations that occurred (or didn't occur) in those earlier situations, and there is no other evidence as to whether the Union had waived its right to negotiate this issue, in 2011 or in earlier years. Additionally, any failure to negotiate in previous years would not preclude the Union from negotiating the same issue in subsequent years.

In addition to dealing directly with Church to move him from the fourth floor to the second floor, I find that McNamee sought to directly arrange with Church a consensual settlement of the complaints made against him. Although the Reports of Contact had not been filed under the negotiated grievance procedure, and Church had not yet named the Union as his representative in that matter, I am convinced that McNamee tried to convince Church that it would be in his interest to voluntarily move to the second floor as a means of resolving the complaints. The exact language that McNamee used in this regard is not critical: whether he assured Church that he would take the Reports of Contact and "put [them] right in my drawer . . . you'll never hear about it again[.]" or whether he used some more ambiguous language, I am persuaded that McNamee indicated to Church that the complaints might be settled if he moved to the second floor. Tr. 29. McNamee could not recall whether he had used the language attributed to him by Church (Tr. 96), but Church's recollection was more specific and detailed. I give weight to the summary of their meeting that Church wrote immediately after it ended, in which he said (referring to the sexual harassment complaint): "This is such a serious accusation and you want to fix it by sending me to the second floor to work." R. Ex. 1 at 1. Coming fresh after the meeting, Church's email is convincing evidence that McNamee was trying to work out a voluntary resolution of the complaint, and that moving Church to the second floor was part of that resolution.

In these circumstances, McNamee should have involved the Union in reassigning Church to a different floor, and in working out a resolution of the complaints that the two employees had filed against Church. Contrary to the Respondent's argument, McNamee was not merely "gathering information" or "opinions" from his employee when he asked Church if he would be willing to relocate to the second floor. *See IRS*, 64 FLRA at 977-78. This was not a survey or poll, and McNamee was not seeking general information or opinions; he was specifically trying to obtain Church's consent to a change in his conditions of employment, in a way that would avoid involving the Union. In this respect, it is similar to the situation in *Dep't of the Treasury, IRS, Kan. City Serv. Ctr., Kan. City, Mo.*, 57 FLRA 126, 129 (2001).

Therefore, I find that the Respondent violated § 7116(a)(1) and (5) of the Statute by directly dealing with a bargaining unit employee and bypassing the Union when McNamee asked Church if he would move to the second floor as a means of resolving the complaints filed against him.

Accordingly, I recommend that the Authority adopt the following Order:

ORDER

Pursuant to § 2423.41(c) of the Authority's Rules and Regulations and § 7118 of the Federal Service Labor-Management Relations Statute (the Statute), the Department of Veterans Affairs, Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Richmond, Virginia, shall:

1. Cease and desist from:

(a) Bypassing the American Federation of Government Employees, Local 2145, AFL-CIO, the exclusive representative of a bargaining unit of its employees, by dealing directly with bargaining unit employees concerning conditions of employment.

(b) In any like or related manner, interfering with, restraining, or coercing bargaining unit employees in the exercise of their rights assured by the Statute.

2. Take the following affirmative actions in order to effectuate the purposes and policies of the Statute:

(a) Post at its facilities where bargaining unit employees represented by the Union are located, copies of the attached Notice on forms to be furnished by the Federal Labor Relations Authority. Upon receipt of such forms, they shall be signed by the Medical Center Director, and shall be posted and maintained for 60 consecutive days thereafter, in conspicuous places, including all bulletin boards and other places where notices to employees are customarily posted. Reasonable steps shall be taken to ensure that such Notices are not altered, defaced, or covered by any other material. In addition to physical posting of paper notices, the Notice shall be distributed to bargaining unit employees electronically, such as by email, posting on an intranet or an internet site, or other electronic means, if the Respondent customarily communicates with employees by such means.

(b) Pursuant to § 2423.41(e) of the Authority's Rules and Regulations, notify the Regional Director of the Atlanta Region, Federal Labor Relations Authority, in writing, within 30 days from the date of this Order, as to what steps have been taken to comply.

Issued, Washington, D.C., January 30, 2015



RICHARD A. PEARSON
Administrative Law Judge

NOTICE TO ALL EMPLOYEES

POSTED BY ORDER OF THE

FEDERAL LABOR RELATIONS AUTHORITY

The Federal Labor Relations Authority has found that the Department of Veterans Affairs, Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Richmond, Virginia, violated the Federal Service Labor-Management Relations Statute (the Statute), and has ordered us to post and abide by this Notice.

WE HEREBY NOTIFY OUR EMPLOYEES THAT:

WE WILL NOT bypass the American Federation of Government Employees, Local 2145, AFL-CIO, the exclusive representative of a bargaining unit of our employees, by dealing directly with bargaining unit employees concerning conditions of employment.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner, interfere with, restrain, or coerce bargaining unit employees in the exercise of their rights assured by the Statute.

(Agency/Activity)

Date: _____

By: _____
(Signature) (Title)

This Notice must remain posted for 60 consecutive days from the date of posting and must not be altered, defaced, or covered by any other material.

If employees have any questions concerning this Notice or compliance with any of its provisions, they may communicate directly with the Regional Director, Washington Regional Office, Federal Labor Relations Authority, whose address is: 1400 K Street, NW., 2nd Fl., Washington, DC 20424, and whose telephone number is: (202) 357-6029.